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NICHOLS, TERRI NOCHIMSON, RUSTY 
OLDS, JASON ONIKAMA, BARBARA 
PAYNE, MARTY PRICE, KERRY RIACH, 
DANIELLE RIVERO, LAURENCE ROOKER, 
LETA SCHWARTZ, ROBERT SEDANI, 
MARK SKELTON, AMANDA SMITH, ERIC 
SMITH, NOEL SMITH, STEVEN SMITH, 
CHRISTY SORENSEN, KATHERINE STEEP, 
JOHN THOMAS, LISA THOMPSON, CODY 
TOOMBS, ERIC VCULEK, AMBER 
VINCENT, LAWRENCE VYMISLICKY, 
CHELSEA WAHLSTROM-MAHAN, LISA 
MICHELLE WARD, JEFFREY WETHERELL, 
BLAINE WILLARD, DANICA WOLFKAHN, 
and CONNIE YANZ, individually, and on behalf 
of a class of others similarly situated, 
 
    Plaintiffs, 
 v. 
 
DELL, INC., and DELL MARKETING USA, 
L.P. and 
 
SPHERION CORPORATION 
Serve: Corporation Service Company 
 285 Liberty Street, N.E. 
 Salem, OR 97301 
    Defendants. 
 

 
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, by and through their 

counsel, for their First Amended Complaint against Dell Inc. and Dell Marketing USA L.P. 

(collectively “Dell”) and Spherion Corporation (“Spherion”) (collectively “Defendants”) hereby 

state and allege as follows: 

1. Dell sells computer products and services to consumers nationwide.  Dell’s policy 

and practice is to deny earned wages and overtime pay to its sales representative (“SR”) 

employees at its call center facilities located nationwide, including facilities located in Oregon, 

Idaho, Oklahoma, Tennessee and Texas.  Dell’s deliberate failure to pay employees their earned 
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wages and overtime compensation violates the Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) and 

applicable state laws. 

2. Plaintiffs, and all others similarly situated, are current and former SRs at Dell’s 

call center facilities located in Oregon, Oklahoma, Tennessee and Texas.  This lawsuit is brought 

as a nationwide collective action under the FLSA and as an Oregon class action under Oregon 

state law to recover unpaid wages owed to Plaintiffs and all other similarly situated employees. 

3. Plaintiffs filed their initial Complaint against Dell on February 8, 2007.  See 

Complaint [Doc. # 1].  Since that time, dozens of Dell SRs have filed consent forms and joined 

this lawsuit, including SRs employed out of Dell facilities located in Texas.  Plaintiffs have also 

discovered that Dell committed additional violations of the applicable federal and state wage and 

hour laws.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs now file their First Amended Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 15 and L.R. 15.1. 

4. Pursuant to L.R. 15.1(c)(2), the material changes reflected herein include the 

addition of 76 Plaintiffs (¶¶14-17); additional factual allegations (¶¶ 34-39; 42-44); and the 

addition of four legal claims (Count II at ¶¶ 69-71; Count V at ¶¶ 78-80; Count VI at ¶¶ 81-85; 

and Count VII at ¶¶ 86-89).  Additionally, Plaintiffs removed their claim under Or. Rev. Stat. 

Ann. § 652.120, which was reflected at Count II in their initial Complaint.  Plaintiffs also added 

Spherion as a party (¶ 10). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

5. The FLSA authorizes court actions by private parties to recover damages for 

violation of the FLSA’s wage and hour provisions.  Jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ FLSA claims is 

based upon 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

6. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, this Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ Oregon state 

law claims because the state claims are so related to the FLSA claims that they form part of the 
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same case or controversy.  Additionally, jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims is based 

upon the Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A), because the parties 

are diverse and the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs. 

7. Venue in this district is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), because 

Dell conducts business in this district. 

PARTIES 

8. Dell Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business in Round 

Rock, Texas.  Dell Inc. does business in the State of Oregon and nationwide. 

9. Dell Marketing USA L.P. is a limited partnership organized under the laws of the 

state of Texas with its principal place of business in Round Rock, Texas.  Dell Marketing USA 

L.P. does business in the State of Oregon and nationwide.  Dell Marketing USA L.P. is a 

subsidiary of Dell Inc. 

10. Spherion Corporation is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of 

business in Fort Lauderdale, Florida.  Spherion Corporation does business in the State of Oregon 

and nationwide. 

11. Plaintiffs are current and former sales representatives at Dell’s call centers located 

in Roseburg, Oregon, Round Rock, Texas, and McGregor, Texas.   

12. David Norman (“Norman”) currently works as a SR at the Roseburg facility.  

Norman’s Consent to Become a Party Plaintiff pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) was attached to 

Plaintiffs’ initial Complaint as Exhibit A. 

13. Walter Romas (“Romas”) worked at the Roseburg facility from approximately 

December 2003 until approximately July 2006.  Romas’s Consent to Become a Party Plaintiff 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) was attached to Plaintiffs’ initial Complaint as Exhibit B. 
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14. In addition, 80 SRs from Dell’s Roseburg, Oregon facility have executed and filed  

Consents to Become a Party Plaintiff pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  Each such Plaintiff has 

previously filed with this Court a Consent to Become a Party Plaintiff pursuant to 29 U.S.C. 

§ 216(b).  In alphabetical order, these individuals are: Aaron Anderson, Shannon Archuleta, 

Kassy Beeman, Sean Beeman, Tami Bigley, Kristi Billiu, Amy Booms, Jason Briockopp, 

Tabatha Brown, Anne Campbell, Elizabeth Carroll, Paula Casteel, Erica Chaney, Jeff 

Chickering, Wayne Comanse, Brinton "Paige" Cook, Sabrina Crader, Bret Croucher, Jennifer 

Davis, Chris Dufer, Jason Emmett, Steven Exceen, Todd Feagins, Michael Frow III, Angela 

Glover, Derrick Glover, Nathaniel Gregory, Christopher Guyett, Tom Guyett, Gorden Hanks, 

Shalisa Hanks, Rita Fay Harris, Audrey Hayes, Terri Hillmick, Don Hukel, James Karnes, 

William Kemp, Jason Kottke, Tanya Kuschel, Alan Lambright, Mark Lenihan, Mark Lenning, 

Phillip Martin, Kristina McKillop, Cheri McNeil, Diane Moorhead, Arturo Moreno, Shirley 

Morgan, Darby Mozelle, Paul Nelson, Jenalee Nichols, Terri Nochimson, Rusty Olds, Jason 

Onikama, Barbara Payne, Marty Price, Kerry Riach, Danielle Rivero, Laurence Rooker, Leta 

Schwartz, Robert Sedani, Mark Skelton, Amanda Smith, Eric Smith, Noel Smith, Steven Smith, 

Christy Sorensen, Katherine Steep, John Thomas, Lisa Thompson, Cody Toombs, Eric Vculek, 

Amber Vincent, Lawrence Vymislicky, Chelsea Wahlstrom-Mahan, Lisa Michelle Ward, Jeffrey 

Wetherell, Blaine Willard, Danica Wolfkahn, and Connie Yanz. 

15. SRs from Dell call center facilities other than the Roseburg facility have also 

executed Consents to Become a Party Plaintiff pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

16. Darby Mozelle previously worked at Dell's call center located in McGregor / 

Waco, Texas, and currently works in Dell’s Roseburg, Oregon facility.  Ms. Mozelle has 

executed and filed a Consent to Become a Party Plaintiff pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 
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17. Tom Laws works at Dell's call center located in Austin, Texas, and has executed 

and filed a Consent to Become a Party Plaintiff pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).   

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

18. Dell operates call centers in several states across the country, including Oregon, 

Idaho, Oklahoma, Tennessee and Texas. 

19. Dell employs thousands of sales representatives (SRs) nationwide who, among 

other things, correspond with customers by telephone.   

20. Dell classifies SRs as “non-exempt” and SRs are eligible for overtime 

compensation when they work more than 40 hours in a workweek. 

21. For its timekeeping system, Dell uses a computer application called Kronos to 

assist in recording employees’ hours worked, including hours worked by SRs. 

22. Kronos regularly and routinely does not record all of the hours worked by SRs.  

Because of these errors, SRs are not paid for all the hours they work. 

23. SRs are not allowed to independently correct the time that Kronos recorded, even 

if SRs worked in excess of the hours reflected in Kronos.  Instead, SRs must get a supervisor to 

correct the error in Kronos, but this is rarely successful either because the supervisor does not 

make the correction or Kronos still fails to adequately record the time. 

24. Dell has been on notice of the Kronos recordkeeping errors for years but has 

failed to correct the errors or obtain a new method of timekeeping for SRs. 

25. Dell has failed to pay SRs for their hours worked even after it was notified about 

the Kronos errors. 

26. In addition to failing to accurately record time worked, Kronos also automatically 

deducts one hour of working time per shift as an unpaid meal period. 
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27. However, SRs customarily take a meal break of far less than one hour, resulting in 

significant work “off  the clock” over unpaid meal breaks on a daily basis.  SRs are not allowed 

to correctly record their unpaid meal break time in Kronos. 

28. Dell is aware that its SRs generally do not take a full one hour meal break, but it 

has failed to implement the necessary polices or practices to ensure that SRs are fully paid when 

they work during meal breaks. 

29. Dell does not provide SRs with rest periods for every four hours of work that SRs 

perform. 

30. In addition to its policies regarding Kronos and rest and meal periods, Dell does 

not pay its SRs for integral and indispensable job duties that are necessary for the SRs’ principal 

activity of corresponding by telephone with Dell’s customers. 

31. Dell requires SRs to attend a meeting every day before their shifts begin that lasts 

an average of twenty to thirty minutes.  During the meeting, among other things, Dell informs 

SRs about new products and services it makes available for consumers. 

32. Additionally, a number of critical tasks must be performed before a SR is ready to 

correspond by telephone with a Dell customer.  Those tasks include: (1) booting up computers; 

(2) logging on to Dell’s computer network; (3) opening relevant computer programs; (4) 

reviewing memoranda and correspondence relating to Dell’s promotions and other services; (5) 

reading and responding to customer e-mails or following up with customers about earlier 

inquiries; and (6) completing other essential tasks.  SRs perform many of these integral and 

indispensable preparatory tasks before they log in to Kronos, during their unpaid meal breaks, 

and after they log out of Kronos at the end of their shifts. 
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33. Dell does not pay its SRs for attending the daily meetings or for performing these 

integral and indispensable tasks that are necessary for the SRs’ principal activity of 

corresponding by telephone with Dell’s customers. 

34. Dell classifies its SR employees as “salaried non-exempt” and purports to pay 

overtime using a half-time rate under a method called the fluctuating workweek (FWW).   

35. The FWW method for paying overtime requires employers to meet several 

criteria, including that: (1) there exists a clear mutual understanding that the salary covers 

whatever hours the job may demand in a particular workweek, (2) the employer pay the salary 

even though the workweek is one in which a full schedule of hours is not worked, and (3) the 

employee's hours actually fluctuate from week to week. 

36. Dell fails to meet the criteria for applying the FWW method of computing 

overtime because: (1) there is no clear mutual understanding between Dell and its SR employees 

that the purported “salary” covers whatever hours the job may demand in a particular workweek, 

(2) Dell improperly deducts a SRs pay when the SR does not work a full schedule of hours, and 

(3) the working hours of SRs do not fluctuate from week to week because SRs customarily work 

a regular schedule of hours.   

37. The result of Dell’s improper application of the FWW method of computing 

overtime is that Dell underpays it SR workforce by at least two-thirds (67%) for every overtime 

hour worked. 

38. Dell also fails to adhere to its own policies related to incentives for SRs, with 

incentives coming in the form of commissions, prizes, monetary bonuses and compensation 

designated as “Airpoints.”  Dell regularly creates quotas, incentives, and promotions for SRs to 

encourage them to make additional sales and work longer hours.  However, after the SRs satisfy 
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the requirements to attain the incentive compensation, Dell reneges and retroactively changes the 

quotas, incentives and promotions thereby denying SRs their rightfully earned compensation.  

39. Moreover, when Dell does pay incentive compensation (such as commissions, 

prizes and Airpoints), it does not properly include the incentive or its value in calculating SRs’ 

regular rate of pay, even though the incentives are non-discretionary.  This failure to account for 

incentive compensation results in systematic under-calculation and underpayment of SR’s 

overtime compensation. 

40. Dell is adhering to the same unlawful compensation policies and practices with 

respect to SRs at its call centers nationwide, including those located in Oregon, Idaho, 

Oklahoma, Tennessee and Texas. 

41. The net effect of Dell’s policy and practice instituted and approved by company 

managers is that Dell willfully fails to pay overtime compensation and willfully fails to keep 

accurate time records in order to save payroll costs.  Dell enjoys ill-gained profits at the expense 

of its SR employees. 

42. Spherion is a temporary employment agency that contracts with Dell to provide 

SR employees for its Roseburg, Oregon facility. 

43. Spherion maintains an office at Dell’s Roseburg, Oregon facility. 

44. To the extent that Spherion was and/or is currently the employer of some SRs 

working in the Roseburg facility, Spherion and Dell are jointly and severally liable to SRs for 

their violations of federal and Oregon law. 

COLLECTIVE AND CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

45. Plaintiffs brings Count I (“the FLSA claim”) as an “opt-in” collective action 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 
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46. Plaintiffs David Norman and Walter Romas bring Counts II, III, IV, V, VI, and 

VII (the unpaid overtime wages, insufficient timekeeping, rest period, late payment of wages due 

at termination, breach of contract, and quantum meruit claims respectively) as a class action 

pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23, on behalf of themselves and as the Class Representatives of the 

following persons: 

all current and former sales representatives who have worked at Dell’s 
Roseburg, Oregon call center at any time during the last six years. 

47. The FLSA claim may be pursued by those who opt-in to this case, pursuant to 29 

U.S.C. § 216(b). 

48. The state law claims, if certified for class wide treatment, may be pursued by all 

similarly-situated persons who do not opt-out of the class. 

49. Plaintiffs, individually and on behalf of other similarly situated employees, seek 

relief on a collective basis challenging, among other FLSA violations, Defendants’ practice of 

failing to accurately record all hours worked and failing to pay employees for all hours worked, 

including overtime compensation.  The number and identity of other plaintiffs yet to opt-in and 

consent to be party plaintiffs may be determined from the records of Defendants, and potential 

class members may easily and quickly be notified of the pendency of this action. 

50. Plaintiffs’ state law claims satisfy the numerosity, commonality, typicality, 

adequacy and superiority requirements of a class action pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23. 

51. The class satisfies the numerosity standards.  The class is believed to number in 

the many hundreds of persons.  As a result, joinder of all class members in a single action is 

impracticable.  Class members may be informed of the pendency of this class action through 

direct mail. 
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52. There are questions of fact and law common to the class that predominate over 

any questions affecting only individual members.  The questions of law and fact common to the 

class arising from Defendants’ actions include, without limitation, the following: 

a. Whether Defendants were unjustly enriched by failing to pay SRs for all 
time worked; 

b. Whether Defendants violated Oregon law when they failed to pay sales 
representatives for all hours worked, failed to maintain accurate time 
records, failed to provide sales representatives with adequate rest periods, 
and failed to timely pay SRs all amounts due at termination; 

c. Whether Defendants breached their contract with SRs and whether SRs 
are entitled to quantum meruit under Oregon law; and 

d. Whether Defendants had a policy and practice of failing to record and 
compensate employees for all time worked. 

53. The questions set forth above predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual persons, and a class action is superior with respect to considerations of consistency, 

economy, efficiency, fairness, and equity to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of the state law claims. 

54. Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the class in that class members have been 

employed in the same or similar positions as Plaintiffs and were subject to the same or similar 

unlawful practices as Plaintiffs. 

55. A class action is the appropriate method for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

this controversy.  Defendants have acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the 

class.  The presentation of separate actions by individual class members could create a risk of 

inconsistent and varying adjudications, establish incompatible standards of conduct for 

Defendants, and/or substantially impair or impede the ability of class members to protect their 

interests. 

56. Class Representatives David Norman and Walter Romas are adequate 

representatives of the class because they are members of the class and their interests do not 
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conflict with the interests of the members of the class they seek to represent.  The interests of the 

members of the class will be fairly and adequately protected by Class Representatives and their 

undersigned counsel, who have extensive experience prosecuting complex wage and hour, 

employment and class action litigation. 

57. Maintenance of this action as a class action is a fair and efficient method for 

adjudication of this controversy.  It would be impracticable and undesirable for each member of 

the class who suffered harm to bring a separate action.  In addition, the maintenance of separate 

actions would place a substantial and unnecessary burden on the courts and could result in 

inconsistent adjudications, while a single class action can determine, with judicial economy, the 

rights of all class members. 

COUNT I 

Violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) of 1938 
Violation of the FLSA’s Overtime Requirements 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and 
on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
58. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

57. 

59. At all times material herein, Plaintiffs have been entitled to the rights, protections, 

and benefits provided under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. 

60. The FLSA regulates, among other things, the payment of overtime pay by 

employers whose employees are engaged in interstate commerce, or engaged in the production of 

goods for commerce, or employed in an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of 

goods for commerce.  29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1). 
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61. Defendants are subject to the overtime pay requirements of the FLSA because 

they are enterprises engaged in interstate commerce and their employees are engaged in 

commerce. 

62. Defendants violated the FLSA by failing to pay SRs overtime compensation in 

accordance with 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) and § 207(e).  In the course of perpetrating these unlawful 

practices, Defendants also willfully failed to keep accurate records of all hours worked by their 

employees. 

63. Section 13 of the FLSA, codified at 29 U.S.C. § 213, exempts certain categories 

of employees from overtime pay obligations.  None of the FLSA exemptions apply to Plaintiffs 

or SRs. 

64. Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees are victims of a uniform and 

facility-wide compensation policy.  This uniform policy, in violation of the FLSA, has been 

applied to all SRs in Dell’s call centers nationwide, including facilities located in Roseburg, 

Oregon, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, Nashville, Tennessee and Round Rock and McGregor 

Texas. 

65. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA’s overtime requirements include (1) failing to 

record and compensate all working time of SRs, including time worked pre-shift, post-shift and 

over unpaid meal breaks; (2) improperly applying the “fluctuating work week” and 

compensating SR’s at a rate of half-time – rather than the required one and one-half times regular 

rate of pay – for overtime hours worked by SRs; and (3) failing to include and account for all 

compensation earned by SRs, including incentive pay, commissions, “Airpoints” and the 

monetary value of prizes, when calculating and paying SRs for overtime. 

66. Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees are entitled to damages equal to the 

mandated overtime premium pay within the three years preceding the filing of their original 
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Complaint, plus periods of equitable tolling, because Defendants acted willfully and knew, or 

showed reckless disregard of whether their conduct was prohibited by the FLSA. 

67. Defendants have acted neither in good faith nor with reasonable grounds to 

believe that their actions and omissions were not a violation of the FLSA, and as a result thereof, 

Plaintiffs and other similarly situated employees are entitled to recover an award of liquidated 

damages in an amount equal to the amount of unpaid overtime pay described pursuant to Section 

16(b) of the FLSA, codified at 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).  Alternatively, should the Court find 

Defendants did not act willfully in failing to pay overtime pay, Plaintiffs and all similarly 

situated employees are entitled to an award of prejudgment interest at the applicable legal rate. 

68. As a result of the aforesaid willful violations of the FLSA’s overtime pay 

provisions, overtime compensation has been unlawfully withheld by Defendants from Plaintiffs 

and all similarly situated employees.  Accordingly, Defendants are liable pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b), together with an additional amount as liquidated damages, pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and costs of this action. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly-situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for: (1) compensatory damages; (2) liquidated damages; (3) attorneys’ fees 

and costs as allowed by Section 16(b) of the FLSA; (4) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest 

as provided by law; and (5) such other relief as the Court deems fair and equitable. 

COUNT II 

Violation of Oregon Law 
Violation of Overtime Wage Statute 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and in their capacity as the 
Class Representatives on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
69. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

68. 
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70. Defendants violated Oregon law, in relevant part, by failing to pay all overtime 

wages due to Plaintiffs in violation of Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 653.261 and Or. Admin. R. 839-020-

0030. 

71. Defendants’ violations of Oregon’s overtime wage statute include (1) failing to 

record and compensate all working time of SRs, including time worked pre-shift, post-shift and 

over unpaid meal breaks, and (2) improperly applying the “fluctuating work week” and 

compensating SRs at a rate of half-time – rather than the required one and one-half times regular 

rate of pay – for overtime hours worked by SRs.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for an award of (1) compensatory and statutory damages under Or. Rev. 

Stat. Ann. § 653.055; (2) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law; (3) 

attorneys’ fees and costs under Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 653.055(4) and 652.200(2); and (4) such 

other relief as the Court deems fair and equitable. 

COUNT III 

Violation of Oregon Law 
Violation of Recordkeeping Statute 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and in their capacity as the 
Class Representatives on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
72. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

71. 

73. Defendants violated Oregon law, in relevant part, by failing to maintain accurate 

payroll records in violation of Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 653.045. 

74. Plaintiffs were thereby damaged in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for an award of (1) compensatory and statutory damages under Or. Rev. 
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Stat. Ann. § 653.055; (2) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law; (3) 

attorneys’ fees and costs under Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 653.055(4) and 652.200(2); and (4) such 

other relief as the Court deems fair and equitable. 

COUNT IV 

Violation of Oregon Law 
Violation of Rest Periods Administrative Rule 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and in their capacity as the 
Class Representatives on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
75. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

74. 

76. Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 653.261 authorizes the Commissioner of the Oregon Bureau 

of Labor and Industries to promulgate rules related to rest periods.  Defendants violated Oregon 

law by failing to provide SRs with the necessary rest periods in violation of Or. Admin. R. 839-

020-0050. 

77. Plaintiffs were thereby damaged in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for an award of (1) compensatory and statutory damages under Or. Rev. 

Stat. Ann. § 653.055; (2) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law; (3) 

attorneys’ fees and costs under Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. §§ 653.055(4) and 652.200(2); and (4) such 

other relief as the Court deems fair and equitable. 
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COUNT V 

Violation of Oregon Law 
Violation of Separation Wages Statute 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and in their capacity as the 
Class Representatives on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
78. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

77. 

79. A number of SRs are not current employees of Defendants. 

80. Defendants violated Oregon law by failing to provide former SRs with their final 

paychecks and failed to pay SRs all wages (including overtime) due and owing at the time of 

termination within the time period required by Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 652.140. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for an award of (1) compensatory and statutory damages provided in Or. 

Rev. Stat. Ann. § 652.150; (2) pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law; (3) 

attorneys’ fees and costs under Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 652.200(2); and (4) such other relief as the 

Court deems fair and equitable. 

COUNT VI 

Breach of Contract 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and in their capacity as the Class 
Representatives on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
81. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

80. 

82. Plaintiffs and Defendants entered into employment agreements whereby Plaintiffs 

agreed to perform services to be compensated for at an agreed rate of pay. 
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83. The agreements were made between parties capable of contracting and contained 

mutual obligations and valid consideration.  Plaintiffs have performed all conditions precedent, if 

any, required of Plaintiffs under the agreement. 

84. Defendants failed and refused to perform its obligations in accordance with the 

terms and conditions of the agreement by failing to pay Plaintiffs for all time worked on behalf 

of Defendants. 

85. Plaintiffs were thereby damaged in an amount to be determined at trial. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for an award of (1) compensatory damages; (2) pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest as provided by law; and (3) such other relief as the Court deems fair and 

equitable. 

COUNT VII 

Quantum Meruit 

(Brought Against Defendants by Plaintiffs Individually and in their capacity as the Class 
Representatives on Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated) 

 
86. Plaintiffs reassert and re-allege the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 

85. 

87. Plaintiffs conferred a benefit upon Defendants by working on their behalf without 

compensation. 

88. Defendants had an appreciation or knowledge of the benefit conferred by 

Plaintiffs. 

89. Defendants accepted and retained the benefit under such circumstances as to 

make it inequitable for Defendants to retain the benefit without payment of its value. 
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WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and all similarly situated employees demand judgment against 

Defendants and pray for an award of (1) compensatory damages; (2) pre-judgment and post-

judgment interest as provided by law; and (3) such other relief as the Court deems fair and 

equitable. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs hereby request a trial by jury of all issues triable by jury. 

DESIGNATION OF PLACE OF TRIAL 

Plaintiffs designate Eugene, Oregon as the place for trial. 

Dated:  March 30, 2007 
 Respectfully submitted,  

 
STUEVE SIEGEL HANSON WOODY LLP 
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